RECEIVED

Apr 17 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Supreme Court

AMENDED BRIEF OF APPELLANT TONJI L. MEREDITH

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

County of Spartanburg

Appeal from Tonji L. Meredith of South Carolina

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY

COMMON PLEAS

Appellate Case No. 2021-001076

In Re: Appealing my case from Lower Court of Spartanburg County Clerk of Court

180 Magnolia Street 2nd floor suite 500

TONJI L. MEREDITH

2370 BROCKMAN MCCLIMON RD.

GREER, SC 29651

PHONE: 864-894-9160

TONJIMEREDITH1969@GMAIL.COM

TABLE OF CONTENT

1. COVER PAGE	PAGE:1
2. TABLE OF CONTENT	PAGE:2
3. STATEMENT OF ISSUES	PAGE:3
4. STATEMENT OF CASE	PAGE:4

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. The DEEDS of Luther Leon Meredith That Listed to his HEIRS, were never accepted by Spartanburg Municipal Court, In The Court of Common Pleas of the Seventh Judicial Circuit Court.**
- 2. The LAST WILL AND TESTAMENT Dated May 07, 2003 was not accepted by PROBATE COURT, SPARTANBURG MUNICIPAL COMMON PLEAS OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT.**
- 3. Validity of the Notary on the LAST WILL AND TESTAMENT BY THE SOUTH CAROLINA SECRETARY OF STATE.**

Statement of the Case

1. Probate Court

August 26, 2019

Case # 2017 ES 4201163

Judge David Anderson Associate Probate Judge

Nature of Matter: Contested Last Will and Testament

Action of Court: Found no reason to overturn the Admittance of 1996 LAST WILL and TESTAMENT.

2. Common Pleas Court

January 10, 2020

Case# 2019 CP 4200891

Judge Mark Hayes

Nature of Matter: Appeal Probate Court Action

Action of the Court: No decision was made due to no records available from Probate Court

3. Common Pleas Court

May 13, 2020

Case# 2019-CP-42-04222

Nature of Matter: Appeal Probate Court Decision

Action of Court: dismissed appeal

ARGUMENTS

1. Deed search was order by Probate Judge David Anderson and never was executed or submitted to Probate Court or Common Pleas Court.
2. I, Tonji L. Meredith found a later dated Last WILL and Testament of Luther Leon Meredith dated May 07, 2003. I took the Last Will and Testament to Spartanburg County Municipal Court, Probate Court Office to have it recorded. I presented the document to Spartanburg County clerk of court, Erin Hall and her Supervisor refused to accept the document from me.
3. The Lower courts made decisions without seeing letters stating validity of Notary on LAST WILL AND TESTAMENT dated February 25, 2019

Conclusion

For the reasons that this information was never admissible in court, the motion to appeal should be respectfully granted and all information be accepted before any court rulings.

Respectfully submitted,

Date: April 17, 2023

Signed: Tonji L. Meredith

Tonji L. Meredith

2370 Brockman McClimon Rd.

Greer, SC 29651

Phone: 864-894-9160

Tonjimeredith1969@gmail.com

Tonji L. Meredith
2370 Brockman McClimon Rd.
Greer, South Carolina 29651

These are the list of my father Luther Leon
Meredith DEEDS of his land.

DEED 77-YPG83b
DEED 70 H PG 311
DEED b5-N-PG-754
DEED 51C PAGE697
DEED 9b-T PG b 40
DEED 51C PAGE 0705
DEED 51C PAGE 0717
DEED 51 C PAGE 0685
DEED 96-TPG640
DEED 53 N PG 025
DEED 63 W PG 209

LAST WILL AND TESTAMENT
OF
LUTHER LEON MEREDITH

I, **LUTHER LEON MEREDITH** of Spartanburg County, State of South Carolina, being of sound and disposing mind and memory, do hereby make, publish and declarer this to be my **LAST WILL AND TESTAMENT**, hereby revoking any and all former Wills and Codicils heretofore made by me.

I direct my Personal Representative or Substitute Personal Representative, **TONJI LAVONNE MEREDITH AND EVELYN EVANS MEREDITH** named, to pay all of my just debt including the expenses of my last illness and funeral expenses, as soon after my death as practicable.

I hereby will, devise and bequeath unto my beloved Children, **BARRY GLENN, TAMMY GLENN, and SCOTTIE GLENN**, absolutely nothing under this my Last Will and Testament.

I hereby will, devise and bequeath all of my real and personal property of every kind and description, wheresoever situate and whether acquired before or after the execution of this Will to **TONJI LAVONNE MEREDITH, her HEIRS AND ASSIGNS FOREVER**, to my youngest daughter be hers in fee simple my real at 2370 Brockman McClimon Rd. Greer, Spartanburg County, South Carolina 29651, 2212 Brockman McClimon Rd. Greer, Spartanburg County, South Carolina 29651, and my rental property at 18 Lindsay Ave Greenville, Greenville County, South Carolina 29607. Tonji is to share and share alike to **SONJI LASHONNE MEREDITH, FREDERICK LAMOUNT MEREDITH, and MARCUS LEON MEREDITH**.

I hereby nominate, constitute and appoint as Personal Representative of this my Last Will and Testament, **TONJI LAVONNE MEREDITH**, and the direct as she shall serve without bond. If for any reason she is unable or unwilling to serve, I then nominate, constitute and appoint as Substitute Personal Representative, **EVELYN EVANS MEREDITH**, the mother of my four children that we union together and direct that she, shall serve without bond.

I hereby give my Personal Representative or Substitute Personal Representative, full power and authority in all matters and questions, including, but not limited to, complete power to sell at public or private sale, for cash or credit, with or with security, and no mortgage, real and personal, as such times and upon such terms and conditions as said Personal Representative or Substitute Personal Representative may deem necessary, and to exercise all such powers without obtaining approval of any Court.

If any beneficiary and I should die under such circumstances as would render it doubtful whether the beneficiary or I died first, then it shall be conclusively presumed for the purpose of this my **LAST WILL AND TESTAMENT**, that said beneficiary predeceased me.

I, **LUTHER LEON MEREDITH**, the Testator, sign my name to this instrument, this 7th day of May, 2003, and being first duly sworn, do hereby declare to the undersigned authority, that I sign and execute this instrument as my **LAST WILL** and I sign it willingly, that I execute it as my free and voluntary act for the purposes therein expressed, and that I am eighteen years of age or older, of sound mind, and under no constraint or under influence.

LUTHER LEON MEREDITH

SIGNATURE:

Luther Leon Meredith
LUTHER LEON MEREDITH

WITNESS: # 1

BOBBY JOE HENDERSON

SIGNATURE:

Bobby Joe Henderson

INITIALS:

BJH

WITNESS: # 2

INEZ EVANS

SIGNATURE:

Inez Evans

INITIALS:

IE 5-7-2003



Cherokee County Clerk of Court Office

BRANDY W. MCBEE
CLERK OF COURT

POST OFFICE DRAWER 2289
125 E. FLOYD BAKER BLVD
GAFFNEY, SC 29342
PHONE: (864) 487-2571
FAX: (864) 487-2754

November 25, 2019

To Whom It May Concern:

Please be advised that the notary records have been searched from 1969 to current and we do not see that a notary signature in the name of Debra Osborne or Debra McCartney has ever been registered.

Please contact my office should you need further information.

Sincerely,

A handwritten signature in black ink that reads "Brandy W. McBee". The signature is written in a cursive style with a large initial "B".

Brandy W. McBee
Clerk of Court

State of South Carolina
Office of the Secretary of State
The Honorable Mark Hammond

1205 PENDLETON STREET, SUITE 525
COLUMBIA, SC 29201

803-734-2170
www.sos.sc.gov



February 25, 2019

VIA HAND DELIVERY

Tonji L. Meredith

Dear Ms. Meredith:

After a review of our records, we cannot verify that there was a commissioned notary public by the name of Debra H. McCartney or Delisa H. McCartney with term expiring 9/27/1999.

Sincerely,

A handwritten signature in cursive script that reads "Meredith Augustine".

Meredith Augustine
Deputy General Counsel
Office of the Secretary of State

Sworn and Subscribed before me

On this 25th day of February, 2019

Sara Damaske
Notary Public for South Carolina
Commission Expires: 1-4-2029



RECEIVED

Apr 17 2023

SC Court of Appeals

**FORM 13
PROOF OF SERVICE OF A NOTICE OF APPEAL BRIEF**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals
[In The Supreme Court]**

**APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas**

CIRCUIT COURT

JUDGE, J DERHAM COLE

Case No. 2019-CP-42-04222

**TONJI LAVONNE MEREDITH,
2370 BROCKMAN MCCLIMON
ROAD, GREER, SC 29651
1 (864) 894-9160
tonjimeredith1969@g
mail.com**

APPELLANT

V.

**TAMMY LEE GLENN &
SCOTTIE S. GLENN
216 SHELL DRIVE
WOODRUFF, SC 29388**

RESPONDENT

**GARY L. COMPTON
296 S. DANIEL MORGAN AVE
SPARTANBURG, SC 29306
gary@garylcompton.c
om**

PRORF OF SERVICE

**I CERTIFY THAT I TONJI LAVONNE MEREDITH HAVE SERVED THE
NOTICE OF COPY BRIEF FOR LUTHER LEON MEREDITH ESTATE ON THURSDAY
APRIL 13, 2023, [DELIVERING A COPY IN POSTAL MAI}**