**RECEIVED**

**Mar 20 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable J. Derham Cole

---

Appellate Case No. 2021-001076  
Trial Court Case No. 2019CP4204222

---

Tonji Meredith.....Appellant,

v.

Tammy Lee Glenn and Scotti Glenn.....Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

---

Gary L. Compton (SC Bar No. 1351)  
296 S. Daniel Morgan Avenue  
Spartanburg, South Carolina 29306  
Phone: (864) 583-5186  
[gary@garylcompton.com](mailto:gary@garylcompton.com)

Attorney for Respondents

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Luther Leon Meredith (“the decedent”) passed away in Spartanburg County on July 14, 2017. The decedent was the father of the parties. On July 20, 2017, the document ultimately admitted to probate as the Last Will and Testament of the decedent dated October 3, 1996 (“the Will”) was delivered to the Probate Court for Spartanburg County (“the Probate Court”). On September 11, 2017, the Respondent Tammy Glenn, who was named in the Will as Personal Representative, applied to the court to be so appointed (*R. p. 3*).

On June 8, 2018, the Appellant petitioned the Probate Court contesting the Will (*R. p. 4*). The Petition came before the Honorable David F. Anderson, Associate Probate Judge for trial on August 26, 2019. The Appellant was represented by Spartanburg Attorney Michael Brown, and the Respondents were represented by the late Attorney Albert Smith, also of Spartanburg, whose office had apparently prepared the Will. The trial resulted in two Orders issued on September 16, 2019 and November 7, 2019 (*R. p. 9-13*).

The September 16 Order dealt with the claim of the Appellant that the Will was invalid because the individual who notarized it was not actually a notary public for South Carolina. Attached to this Order is information obtained by the court suggesting the legitimacy of the notary, and the court notes that lack of proper notary credentials does not affect the validity of the Will. The court left the record open for additional evidence in this regard, but none was received.

The November 7 Order recites that the Appellant claimed that there was an earlier Will, but produced no proof of its existence. She claimed that this Will, together with several life insurance policies, were in a box at the house which was missing. The Appellant claimed that, several days after the decedent’s passing, she noticed that someone had entered her father’s home and had taken items. She filed a police report, but the report did not mention the box that contained

the Will (*R. p. 12*). Judge Anderson concluded that no reason existed to set aside the Will, and admitted it to probate.

The Appellant filed her Notice of Appeal to the Circuit Court on November 27, 2019. On February 27, 2020, the appeal was tried by the Honorable J. Derham Cole, resulting in his Order dated May 13, 2020 (*R. p. 15-16*). That Order dismissed the appeal on jurisdictional grounds, the court finding that the Appellant had not complied with the procedural requirements of S.C. Code Ann. Section 62-1-308. On May 26, 2020, the Appellant filed a Motion to Reconsider pursuant to Rule 59(e) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure (*R. p. 18-19*). By Order of Judge Cole filed August 27, 2021, this Motion was denied because it was not timely. Judge Cole also reviewed the record and concluded that there was no basis to alter its previous decision (*R. p. 24-25*). This appeal followed by Notice of Appeal of the Appellant dated September 23, 2021.

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE CIRCUIT COURT WAS CORRECT IN DISMISSING THE APPEAL OF THE DECISION OF THE PROBATE COURT BECAUSE THE APPELLANT FAILED TO COMPLY WITH S. C. CODE SECTION 62-1-308 AND RULE 59(E), SCRCP.

As Judge Cole pointed out in his Order filed May 13, 2020, the South Carolina Probate Code requires the Circuit Court hearing an appeal from the Probate Court to “apply the same rules of law as an appellate court would apply on appeal.” *Matter of Howard*, 315 S.C. 356, 434 S.E.2d 254 (1993). Judge Cole further noted that “the failure to comply with procedural requirements for an appeal divests a court of appellate jurisdiction.” *In Re Estate of Cretzmeyer*, 365 S.C. 12 615 S.E.2d 116 (2005). A review of the filings in the appeal from Probate Court reveals that the Appellant failed to comply with all of the requirements of S.C. Code Ann. Section 62-1-308 regarding appeals from Probate Court except for the filing of the Notice of Appeal itself.

Accordingly, at the Circuit Court level, the Respondents were not apprised of the grounds for appeal and thus had no ability to respond. As a result, the law is clear that the Circuit Court had no jurisdiction to entertain the appeal, and properly dismissed it.

Judge Cole also had no choice but to deny Appellant’s attempted motion pursuant to Rule 59(e) of the SCRCP. This rule clearly states that the motion must be filed within ten days of written notice of entry of the Order. Counsel of record for the Appellant received electronic notice of the court’s Order on May 13, 2020, and the Rule 59(e) motion was filed on May 26, 2020. As the motion was not filed within ten days, the Circuit Court had no jurisdiction to reverse its Order. This court should note that the Appellant does not

challenge, in her Statement of Issues on Appeal, the finding of the Circuit Court that its jurisdiction was denied by the failure of the Appellant to timely file the Rule 59(e) motion.

**II. ALTHOUGH NOT REQUIRED TO DO SO, THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT NO BASIS EXISTED TO REVERSE THE DECISION OF THE PROBATE COURT.**

The primary basis for this appeal appears to be the refusal of the Probate Court to accept another Last Will and Testament of the decedent. It should go without saying that the Probate Court cannot be expected to rule on the validity of a Last Will and Testament that is not presented to the court to review. The Appellant testified that this Will was located in a box at her father's house, together with several life insurance policies (*R. p. 10*). The Appellant also testified that she moved into her father's home during his last illness, and presumably remains there almost six years later. The box supposedly containing "the later dated last will and testament" was allegedly stolen, but when she reported the burglary to the police, she failed to mention the existence of the box or its alleged contents (*R. p. 12*).

In response to the Appellant's other issues, the Respondents are simply unaware of what the Appellant is referring to when she states that the "deed search ordered by the Probate Judge David Anderson was never rendered." Neither of the Orders issued by Judge Anderson refers to a "deed search". Respondents assume that the Appellant is referring to her attack on the notarization of the Will. It should be noted that the Will was prepared and witnessed by Respondents' trial counsel, the late attorney Albert V. Smith. He advised the court that the notary was a long-time employee of his, and Judge Anderson made a substantial effort to satisfy the Appellant that the Will was, in fact, notarized by a valid South Carolina notary public. Documentation is attached to and made a part of Judge Anderson's November 7, 2019 Order (*R. p. 11*).

It should also be noted, however, that even if the credentials of the notary failed, rendering the Will not self-proving pursuant to S.C. Code Section 62-2-503, the Will should still have been admitted to probate as complying with the requirements of Section 62-2-502. The Appellant does not challenge the validity of the signatures of the two witnesses, which renders the Will valid even if it is not self-proving. There is simply no basis in the record to support a conclusion that the Will is not the genuine Last Will and Testament of the decedent.

## CONCLUSION

The Appellant in this matter has failed to comply with the requirements of the law regarding appeals from the Probate Court to the Circuit Court, and from the Circuit Court to this court. As such, the Circuit Court correctly ruled that it had no jurisdiction to consider the claims by the Appellant that the Probate Court erred in admitting the Last Will and Testament of the decedent to probate. Nevertheless, the Circuit Court gave due consideration to all substantive claims by the Appellant that the Probate Court erred in its denial of her claims. The Respondents are entitled to title, use and possession of the property willed to them by the estate of the decedent, to which they have been denied since the death of their father in July of 2017. The Respondents respectfully request that this appeal be dismissed.